IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96,333

TERRELL M. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL DUPREE Capital Collateral Regional Counsel Florida Bar No. 0311545

WILLIAM M. HENNIS, III Assistant CCRC-SOUTH Florida Bar No. 0066850

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 101 N.E. 3RD AVENUE, SUITE 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Johnson was indicted for two counts of first degree murder on May 23, 1980, in Orange County , Florida. (R. 625). The jury returned verdicts of guilty and a judgment of conviction was entered on September 26, 1980, for first degree murder as to Count I and the lesser included offense of second degree murder as to Count II (R. 738-40). The sentencing jury first voted 6-6 which would have resulted in a life recommendation if no additional vote had been taken. However, the jury continued to deliberate, and after a second vote of 7-5 returned an advisory sentence of death on September 29, 1980 (R. 744). Mr. Johnson was sentenced to death on October 3, 1980, for Count I of the indictment, and to life imprisonment for Count II of the indictment (R. 804-08).

Mr. Johnson appealed from the judgment of conviction and this Court remanded for gross errors and omissions in the trial transcript. The case was resubmitted over lengthy enumerated objections of defense counsel and Mr. Johnson's convictions were affirmed on November 23, 1983. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 442 So. 2d 193 (Fla. 1983). Mr. Johnson thereafter sought Rule 3.850 relief.

The trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on December 22, 1986, and issued an order denying relief on June 12, 1989 (P. 1761-70). Motion for rehearing was denied June 30, 1989, and notice of appeal was filed August 28, 1989 (P. 1783-84). Subsequently, Mr. Johnson's appeal to this Court was denied. <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 1992).

On May 5, 1992 Mr. Johnson filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. Subsequently, the District Court dismissed the petition ordering Mr. Johnson to exhaust claims in state court.

Mr. Johnson filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in this Court seeking exhaustion of claims. That petition was denied and a motion for rehearing was denied on June 5, 1997. <u>Johnson v.</u> Singletary, 695 So. 2d 263 (Fla. 1996).

On February 13, 1997 Mr. Johnson filed a second Rule 3.850 motion alleging, inter alia, newly discovered evidence and evidence of a previously unknown <u>Brady</u> violation.

The Honorable A. Thomas Mihok entered an order on August 18, 1997, directing Mr. Johnson to take a limited deposition of Pamela Cavender, the Records Custodian for the Orange County Sheriff's Office, by September 17, 1997. It further required that Mr. Johnson file any amended motion by October 17, 1997, in light of the inquiries allowed per the terms of the order.

A Motion to Compel was filed on October 9, 1997 by Mr. Johnson subsequent to the September 16, 1997, deposition of Ms. Cavender and in consideration of the lower court's order of September 9, 1997 "that all public records requests will be deemed satisfied by October 9, 1997."

Mr. Johnson filed a supplemental Motion to Vacate dealing solely with outstanding public records issues on October 15, 1997 in response to the order of the lower court dated August 18, 1997. The State responded on November 10, 1997. This Court issued a series of

orders tolling the time limits contained in Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851 & 3.852 as to Mr. Johnson. The tolling expired on September 1, 1998.

Mr. Johnson filed a consolidated amended motion incorporating all his claims from his prior pleadings on August 31, 1998, and the State responded on September 22, 1998.

A status hearing was held on December 28, 1998 and the lower court entered an order on January 5, 1999, stating that "there will be no further public records requests or argument regarding public records requests," and further that Mr. Johnson had until January 28, 1999 to file a "`cleaned up' and consolidated motion under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850."

On December 29, 1998, Mr. Johnson mailed timely additional records requests for information concerning the jurors in Mr. Johnson's case pursuant to <u>Amendments to Florida Rules of Criminal</u> <u>Procedure-Rule 3.852 Capital Postconviction Public Records</u> <u>Production) and Rule 3.993 (Related Forms)</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S478 (Fla. Sept. 18, 1998) in light of the holding in <u>Buenoano v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1998). These records requests had been prepared several days in advance of the mailing date as part of a mass mailing of public records requests for juror information in all the cases in the Miami office of CCRC that had been covered by the Rule 3.852 stays of proceedings.

On January 28, 1999, Mr. Johnson filed a consolidated motion to vacate judgment of conviction and sentence with request for leave to amend and for evidentiary hearing. The state responded on February 23, 1999, and, subsequently, a <u>Huff</u> hearing was held on May 3, 1999

with Mr. Johnson present for legal argument. (M. 54-98).

On June 15, 1999, the Honorable A. Thomas Mihok entered an order denying Mr. Johnson's motion without an evidentiary hearing. (M. 281-354). Counsel for Mr. Johnson filed a motion for rehearing on June 29, 1999, which was denied by a written order from Judge Mihok on July 20, 1999. Notice of appeal was filed on August 10, 1999, and this brief follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr. Johnson's

3.850 claims for an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Johnson plead substantial factual allegations, including ineffective assistance of counsel, newly discovered evidence, and <u>Brady</u> violations. Further, the circuit court failed to conduct the requisite cumulative analysis including the records and files of the 1980 trial and 1986 evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing should have been ordered.

2. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Johnson access to files and records in the hands of certain state agencies pertaining to the jurors in Mr. Johnson's case.

3. The ethical rule that prohibits Mr. Johnson's lawyers from interviewing the jurors in Mr. Johnson's case is unconstitutional.

4. The circuit court erred in rejecting Mr. Johnson's claim concerning the cruel and unusual nature of electrocution as a means of execution and Mr. Johnson requests leave to amend regarding the new lethal injection option.

5. Mr. Johnson must raise the "insane to be executed" argument in order to preserve the issue.

ARGUMENT I

MR. JOHNSON IS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS RULE 3.850 CLAIMS

A. ERRONEOUS SUMMARY DENIAL WAS IMPROPER

On January 28, 1999 Mr. Johnson filed his consolidated Rule 3.850 motion (M. 220-244). He pleaded detailed issues and demonstrated his entitlement to an evidentiary hearing. At a <u>Huff</u> hearing on May 3, 1999 postconviction counsel Pamela Izakowitz supplemented the pleading with legal argument in support of an evidentiary hearing on the seven (7) claims for relief that were included in the motion. (M. 54-97). On June 15, 1999, the lower court entered an order denying relief without an evidentiary hearing (M. 281-354).

A trial court has only two options when presented with a Rule 3.850 motion: "either grant an evidentiary hearing or alternatively attach to any order denying relief adequate portions of the record affirmatively demonstrating that appellant is not entitled to relief on the claims asserted", <u>Witherspoon v. State</u> 590 So.2d 1138 (4th DCA 1992). A trial court may not summarily deny without "attach[ing] portions of the files and records conclusively showing the appellant is entitled to no relief", <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 1261 (2nd DCA 1992). <u>See also Brown v. State</u>, 596 So.2d 1025, 1028 (Fla.1992).

The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in capital post conviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual as opposed to legal matters. The lower court attached a total of fiftyeight (58) pages of material to the summary denial order. (M. 297-354). All but eight pages of this total were excerpts from the September 22, 1980 suppression hearing prior to Mr. Johnson's trial (M.

315-354) and the full transcript of a December 28, 1998 status hearing that encompassed Ms. Izakowitz's first appearance in Mr. Johnson's case. (M. 297-306). The other eight pages were copies of some of the attachments to the State's response to Mr. Johnson's consolidated 1999 3.850 motion, including six pages of Orange County Sheriff's police reports, a copy of two Miranda cards, and a copy of a 3 June 1980 letter from Bruce Hinshelwood, the Assistant State Attorney, to Gerald Jones, Mr. Johnson's trial counsel, concerning discovery in Mr. Johnson's case. The letter includes a reference to "Miranda card". (M. 220-244), (M. 307-314).

Some fact based claims in post conviction litigation can<u>only</u> be considered after an evidentiary hearing, <u>Heiney v. State</u>, 558 So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1990). "The need for an evidentiary hearing presupposes that there are issues of fact which cannot be conclusively resolved by the record. Where a determination has been made that a defendant is entitled to such an evidentiary hearing (as in this case), denial of that right would constitute denial of all due process and could never be harmless." <u>Holland v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1250, 1252-3 (Fla. 1987). "Accepting the allegations . . .at face value, as we must for purposes of this appeal, they are sufficient to require an evidentiary hearing", <u>Lightbourne v. Dugger</u>, 549 So.2d 1364, 1365 (Fla 1989).

Mr. Johnson has pleaded substantial factual allegations including ineffective assistance of counsel, newly discovered evidence, and <u>Brady</u> violations which go to the fundamental fairness of his conviction and to the appropriateness of his death sentence. "Because we cannot say that the record conclusively shows [Mr. Johnson] is entitled to no

relief, we must remand this issue to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing, <u>Demps v. State</u>, 416 So.2d 808, (Fla. 1982).

As to the sufficiency of the pleadings of <u>Brady</u> violations by the state and/or ineffectiveness of trial counsel, Mr. Johnson has clearly met the burden under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. As noted by this Court, "[w]hile the post conviction defendant has the burden of pleading a sufficient factual basis for relief, an evidentiary hearing is presumed necessary absent a conclusive demonstration that the defendant is entitled to no relief". <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 509 (Fla. 1999). <u>See also Peede v. State</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly 5391 (Fla. 1999). The rule was never intended to become a hindrance to obtaining a hearing or to permit the trial court to resolve disputed issues in a summary fashion. Id.

B. CUMULATIVE ANALYSIS IGNORED

In his second Rule 3.850 motion, Mr. Johnson alleged facts which (1) had never been previously disclosed to him despite prior public records requests, and (2) required evidentiary development. The lower court, in summarily denying the issue, also failed to conduct the requisite cumulative analysis in order to access the impact on Mr. Johnson's trial of the undisclosed information. The United States Supreme Court has explained:

> a fair trial is one which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding.

<u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 685 (1984).

As explained in <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 1567 (1995),

a court evaluating a<u>Brady</u> claim must consider the prejudice flowing from the nondisclosures "collectively, not item-by-item." <u>Accord</u> <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 742 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1999); <u>Young v. State</u>, 739 So. 2d 553 (Fla. 1999); <u>Swafford v. State</u>, 679 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996); <u>Jones v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). Since the materiality standard governing <u>Brady</u> claims was borrowed from <u>Strickland</u> (<u>United</u> <u>States v. Bagley</u>, 105 S. Ct. 3375 (1985)), the same cumulative standard must also apply to ineffective assistance claims. The purpose of the prejudice standard is to determine whether the defendant suffered sufficient prejudice to undermine confidence in the reliability of the outcome; the purpose is not to divide the error into compartments and help the State sweep the misconduct under the proverbial rug. <u>See</u>, <u>Kyles</u>, 115 S. Ct. at 1565-1567.

The materiality of a <u>Brady</u> violation is also enhanced by prosecutorial argument that everything has been disclosed. <u>See Garcia</u> <u>v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 1325 (Fla. 1993); <u>Arango v. State</u>, 467 So. 2d 692 (Fla. 1985). Where the prosecutor presented a false or misleading argument, relief is required unless the State establishes that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See Kyles</u>, 115 S. Ct. at 1565 n.7. Where either the state, the defense, or both fail in their obligations, a new trial or sentencing proceeding is required if the cumulative effect of these errors undermines confidence in the outcome. <u>Smith v. Wainwright</u>, 799 F.2d 1442 (11th Cir. 1986); <u>see Kyles</u>, Jones <u>v. State</u>, 591 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 1991). <u>See also Scott v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1995).

In 1997, Orange County law enforcement agencies divulged

previously undisclosed evidence, which demonstrated that Mr. Johnson was denied a full adversarial testing at the guilt and penalty phases of his trial. One example of the evidence is a <u>Miranda</u> card showing that five minutes after midnight on January 6, 1980, Mr. Johnson "refused to sign". (M. 313).

This evidence only became available to Mr. Johnson in September, 1997 after he made public records requests to the Orange County law enforcement agencies. This evidence of Mr. Johnson's "refusal to sign" was never before provided despite a specific public records request on April 8, 1992.

In the spring and summer of 1996, in response to public records requests, Orange County law enforcement agencies released a substantial amount of previously undisclosed handwritten notes, reports, and documents. These items had not been provided to trial counsel and were never before provided to postconviction counsel.

In September 1997, following a deposition of the their records custodian, the Orange County Sheriff's Office for the first time provided **legible** copies of numerous documents that had been previously unreadable in response to an order of the trial court.¹ (Attachment I). Orange County law enforcement agencies also disclosed additional evidence of the illegality of the interrogations of Mr. Johnson.

At trial, counsel filed two motions to suppress, but failed to argue or present evidence to show that Mr. Johnson invoked all his

¹The order and deposition of Pamela Cavendar are not contained in the Record on Appeal. For that reason and in an attempt to prevent any delay, undersigned counsel is filing a Motion to Supplement the Record contemporaneously with this Initial Brief.

rights when he refused to sign a Miranda waiver form presented to him by Officer Peterson of the Jefferson County, Oregon Sheriff's Department. (R. 696-99). It was never revealed to trial counsel that the police had made a record **proving** that refusal. That record is a Miranda card regarding Peterson's first attempt to interrogate Terrell Johnson which shows that at 5 minutes after midnight, on January 6, 1980, Mr. Johnson "refused to sign." (M. 313).

The lower court in its order summarily denying an evidentiary hearing held that the State's failure to turn the refusal card over to the defense "made no difference in the outcome of Defendant's trial because his later statements to Prineville Police Chief Montee would have been admissible in any event." (M. 288). The lower court is substituting its strategy for that of trial counsel. Trial counsel did not say that. Trial counsel Gerald W. Jones was called as a witness at the 1986 evidentiary hearing and was examined on issues related to the suppression hearing. A review of the testimony indicates that neither 1986 postconviction counsel nor trial counsel were familiar with the refusal card and its significance:

> Q (Mr. Olive) Were you familiar at the time of the trial in this case with the general proposition of law that once a client -- if I'm incorrect about it, tell me. If a client indicates that he wishes not to speak any longer to investigating officers, that unless he reinitiates contact with them, they can't continue questioning him?

> > A (Mr. Jones) Yes, sir.

Q You did not request any psychological assistance, any psychologist or psychiatrist to assist you in analyzing any issue with regard to the confessions in the case.

A No, sir.

Q In the appendix, Appendix 9, is a police report and included in that police report is the following information, of which I will ask you if you were familiar with or had in your files. This is a police report from Oregon, as I understand it.

Among other things it goes quote:

"Peterson indicated that Johnson didn't wish to answer any questions, and it was decided to let his girlfriend Patricia Sweeney talk to Johnson in the presence of Peterson and myself. This was done and Sweeney went over the statement she had given to me earlier about crimes in Jefferson County, Oregon and California. Johnson did not respond during this period of time.

"About 2:37 a.m. on January 6th, Johnson asked if he could rest because he didn't feel good. At this point in time the interview ended, and arrangements were made to transport Johnson as there was no room here.

"Following this lodging I returned to Jefferson County and made arrangements to meet with Lt. Peterson at 1:00 a.m., to re-interview Johnson.

"On January 6, 1980, I received a telephone call about 9:30 a.m., advising that a Dr. Hugh Gardiner was to fly into Prineville about 11:00 a.m., and I was asked to join Peterson and come to Prineville to meet the doctor who was to examine Johnson.

Do you remember having access to any of that material?

A It sounds vaguely familiar. I don't --

Q The point is that the Defendant said, "I don't have anything else I want to say to you, " essentially, and they quit interviewing him, fully intending to come back and re-interview him. Did you know that?

A I may have.

Q You filed no motion regarding that?

A But did they? I would have if they had re-interviewed him.

Q Well, I understand they did. But the next day on January 6, 1980, they also went and got a psychiatrist and took him back over. The psychiatrist interviewed Terry, and then they went back in.

* * *

A All I knew during that time period, I knew the only thing they had on Terry was his confession. And I went over the reports and the depositions time and time again and researched throughly the law regarding confessions and voluntariness and Miranda and Escabido and all of these decisions. Perhaps something slipped by me. I'm certainly human.

Q Did you know that before -- do you know whether before he confessed he had been interrogated and refused to give any statements; the girl friend talked with him, urged him to? The police took a psychological profile of him through a psychologist and then went back and interrogated him and got a statement. Do you know whether or not that scenario is accurate, or not?

A No, I don't.

(P. 256-59). Trial counsel was never given the opportunity to address this issue because this information was withheld from both defense counsel and prior post-conviction counsel, in violation of <u>Brady</u>.

What was also overlooked by the lower court is that when Mr. Johnson refused to sign the <u>Miranda</u> card, he invoked his right to silence. Chief Montee testified that his initial contact with Mr. Johnson was at 2:00 a.m. on the morning of January 6th when he was asked to "assist" Lt. Bob Peterson of the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office "in an interview of Mr. Johnson." (M. 319). This was nearly two hours **after** the "refusal to sign" at 12:05 a.m. Montee's description of that interview was part of his testimony at the 1980 suppression hearing:

Q And your first contact with Mr. Johnson, I am talking about a face to face contact, was when?

A Approximately [at] 2:36 in the morning on the 6th, and he was in the office of Lt. Bob Peterson in Jefferson County.

Q Now, at that initial meeting, did you yourself advise Mr. Johnson of his Constitutional Rights?

A No, I did not, but as I entered the room, Lieutenant Peterson introduced me to Mr. Johnson and advised me that he had advised Mr. Johnson of the [his] rights.

Q But, so far as you know, [it was] never done in your presence?

A It was not done in my presence.

Q And how long did your contact with Mr. Johnson last on that early morning hour, [on the] 6th of January?

A Just a couple of minutes, because Mr. Johnson did not answer two or three questions that he was asked by Lieutenant Peterson. And he stated after I had been there two, three minutes, that he was very tired, [and] would like to sleep. And so the interview was ended.

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