IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TERRELL M. JOHNSON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC96,333

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990
Fax (904) 226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF FONT

This brief is typed in Courier New 12 point.

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

This Court affirmed the denial of Johnson's Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion¹, where Johnson raised the

Johnson sought Federal habeas corpus relief in May of 1992. The

following claims, as framed by the Court:

Of the fourteen claims presented in his 3.850 motion, Johnson seeks review of the trial court's rejection of the following twelve: 1) that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to conduct investigation and to present compelling mitigation; 2) that the jury was erroneously instructed that a majority vote was required for a life sentence recommendation and that counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the instruction; 3) that Johnson was denied his right to the independent and competent assistance of a mental health expert; 4) that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to use evidence of voluntary intoxication; 5) that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to depose or impeach the State's ballistics witnesses, for failing to seek independent expert assistance, and for failing to rebut the State's ballistics evidence; 6) that the State violated Brady by intentionally withholding evidence of a ballistics test which was subsequently presented to the jury; 7) that statements obtained from Johnson in violation of Miranda; 8) that the court's reconstruction of the record violated Johnson's rights to a full and fair hearing, equal protection, and effective assistance of counsel; 9) that Johnson's sentence was based upon a mistake of fact regarding the jury's sentencing vote; 10) that counsel was ineffective in failing to move for discharge pursuant to the speedy trial rule of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers (IAD); 11) that the trial court impermissibly diminished the jury's role in sentencing contrary to Caldwell; and 12) that the trial court erroneously applied the Florida death penalty as if it were mandatory and mercy could not be applied.

Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d 206, 208 (Fla. 1992). (footnotes omitted). This Court denied relief on the Miranda claim,

Federal District Court dismissed the petition for lack of exhaustion of his available state remedies.

pointing out that that claim was "also raised on direct appeal and summarily rejected by this Court because 'we find no support for appellant's other points on appeal and see nothing to be gained by discussing them.'" Id. (citation omitted). With respect to the "juror interview" issue, this Court stated:

address claim 2 Finally, we (error in instructions and deficient performance of counsel for failure to litigate this issue). Johnson claims that an error in the court's instructions resulted in an initial jury deadlock of 6-6 on the sentencing recommendation. Such an error in jury instructions is an issue which should properly be raised on direct appeal, and would be procedurally barred if raised for the first time in a 3.850 motion. Smith, 445 So.2d at However, Johnson argues that this claim cognizable because the record at the time of appeal contained no evidence of an alleged jury deadlock. The record reflects that the jury never reported deadlock to the court and returned a majority recommendation of death after four hours deliberation. However, based upon trial counsel's affidavit that he recalled "hearing from sources unknown that the jury had deadlocked at 6-6 during the sentencing phase, " the circuit judge granted Johnson's motion to interview the jury foreman in 1986. deposition of the foreman focused upon the jury's deliberations during the penalty phase of the trial. This Court finds that the jury foreman's testimony is not admissible because "[i]t is a well settled rule that a verdict cannot be subsequently impeached by conduct which inheres in the verdict and relates to the jury's deliberations." Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179, 181 (Fla.), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 960, 109 S.Ct. 404, 102 L.Ed.2d 392 (1988); accord Sec. 90.607(2)(b), Fla.Stat. (1985). [footnote omitted]. This rule has also been applied in capital cases. See Songer v. State, 463 So.2d 229 (Fla.), cert. denied, 472 U.S. 1012, 105 S.Ct. 2713, 86 L.Ed.2d 728 (1985).

In the instant case, the jury foreman was questioned

about jury pollings during deliberations and the jury's understanding of the court's instructions. This testimony "essentially inheres in the verdict" as it relates what occurred in the jury room during the jury's deliberations. This Court has held that such juror testimony is inadmissible. *E.g.*, *McAllister Hotel*, *Inc. v. Porte*, 123 So.2d 339 (Fla. 1959). Accordingly, the foreman's deposition cannot be the basis for the relief sought. Furthermore, this Court cautions against permitting jury interviews to support post-conviction relief for allegations such as those made in this case.

Moreover, even if the foreman's testimony were admissible, we find nothing in the deposition which indicates a jury deadlock in this case. The deposition shows only that the jury conducted "different pollings at various junctures in the deliberations."

Id., at 210.

Johnson subsequently sought State habeas corpus relief before this Court. This Court described the claims contained in Johnson's petition, as follows:

(1) this Court's ruling that his brief on direct appeal could not exceed 70 pages denied effective assistance of counsel because he could not appeal those matters that did not fit within the limited brief; (2) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue that Johnson's death sentence resulted from consideration of constitutionally invalid aggravating factors and improper instructions as to those factors; (3) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue that the jury received an unconstitutional instruction regarding reasonable doubt, compounded by improper prosecutorial comment; (4) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue that Johnson was denied his right to the independent and competent assistance of a mental health expert when the judge appointed an employee of the sheriff's office to interrogate him and report what Johnson said to the

judge and the State; (5) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue of the State's intentional withholding of the fact that it conducted a ballistics test and the corresponding exhibits, and that this misleading evidence was improperly presented to the jury at both the guilt and penalty phases; (6) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue that Johnson's statements were obtained in violation of his fifth, sixth, eighth, and fourteenth amendment rights, and the State violated due process by concealing the violations; there was a Brady violation because police reports regarding the interrogation were inconsistent with the testimony as transcribed; (7) Johnson was denied a full and fair hearing on the trial court's attempted reconstruction of the record and procedure used; (8) counsel was ineffective failing to move to disqualify the reconstruction hearing judge after learning he had received an improper communication from the original (recused) trial judge, and for failing to raise this point on direct appeal; (9) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue that Johnson was not allowed to be present at the reconstruction hearings; (10) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue of Johnson's absence from critical stages of jury selection at trial and unrecorded bench conferences; (11) the right to an impartial jury was compromised because of unrecorded bench conferences during which jurors were questioned and cause and peremptory challenges were discussed, denying meaningful review and effective assistance of counsel; (12) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue on direct appeal that Johnson and counsel were not present when the court communicated with the jury regarding the jury's request to rehear testimony from trial; (13) counsel was ineffective because of the assistant attorney general's improper attacks on the credibility of appellate counsel; (14) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the issue of the judge's and jury's consideration of nonstatutory aggravating factors; (15) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise a double jeopardy argument regarding the trial court's use of the death of the other victim -- for which Johnson had been acquitted of first-degree murder -- to support an

aggravating factor as to Johnson's conviction of first-degree murder for the victim in the instant (16)the death sentence was unfair unreliable because of the prosecutor's inflammatory argument to the jury at sentencing; (17) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise sentencing find mitigating court's refusal to circumstances clearly set out in the record; (18) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise improper penalty-phase issue that instructions shifted the burden to Johnson to prove death was inappropriate and an improper standard was employed in sentencing; (19) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the impropriety of arguments and instructions to the sentencing jury which diluted their sense of responsibility for sentencing; (20) review on direct appeal inadequate because the trial court's sentencing order failed to provide a reasoned judgment regarding the penalty; (21) the death sentence is invalid because the trial judge applied Florida's capital sentencing statute as if it required a mandatory death sentence; (22) the combination of excessive procedural and at substantive errors the trial and appellate proceedings cannot be harmless when viewed as a whole; and (23) counsel was ineffective for failing to properly raise the trial court's improper instruction of the jury as to the elements of robbery, which was the underlying felony supporting the felony murder charge.

Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So.2d 263, 264-65 (Fla. 1996). This Court held:

All of Johnson's twenty-three claims are either procedurally barred -- because they were either already examined on the merits by this Court on direct appeal or in Johnson's 3.850 proceeding, or because they could have been but were not raised in any earlier proceeding -- or meritless. We therefore deny his petition.

Claims 5 (ballistics), 6 (improper statements), and 21 (mandatory application of death penalty) were

specifically considered by this Court on direct appeal and in the 3.850 motion appeal; thus those claims are procedurally barred even if couched in ineffective assistance language. (FN1)

FN1. Claim 5 (ballistics) was point 2 on direct appeal and claim 5 in the 3.850 proceeding. Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d at 195; Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d at 210. Claim 6 (improper statements) was point 5 on direct appeal and claim 7 in the 3.850 proceeding. Brief for Appellant at 48, Johnson v. State, 442 So.2d 193 (Fla. 1984); Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d at 208. Claim 21 (mandatory application of death penalty) was point 7 on direct appeal and claim 12 in the 3.850 proceeding. Brief for Appellant at 59, Johnson v. State 442 So.2d 193 (Fla.1984); Johnson v. State, 593 So.2d at 208.

Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So.2d at 264-65

Subsequently, Johnson filed a successive Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion in February of 1997. The Circuit Court ultimately issued an order denying relief on June 16, 1999. In pertinent part, that order found that the motion was "both untimely and successive". (R283). The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on the motion, and entered specific findings with respect to the various claims and subclaims contained therein. Those specific findings are discussed herein as they relate to the trial court's denial of relief on Johnson's Rule 3.850 motion.

Notice of appeal was given on August 10, 1999, and the record was certified as complete and transmitted on December 17,

1999. A supplemental record was received on May 4, 2000. Johnson filed his *Initial Brief* on April 17, 2000.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The collateral proceeding trial court properly denied relief without an evidentiary hearing on this successive, untimely motion. None of the claims contained in Johnson's brief provide a basis for relief as a matter of law, and, because that is true, there is no necessity for an evidentiary hearing. The issues about which Johnson complains are not only procedurally barred, but also meritless on their face. Summary denial was proper.

Johnson's request for "juror records" was properly denied as untimely and successive. Alternatively, because any substantive claim based on such records would be time-barred and procedurally barred under settled law, any error was, at most, harmless.

Johnson's claim of error based upon the trial court's refusal to allow him to interview the jurors who heard his case in 1980 is not only procedurally barred, but also foreclosed as a matter of law by binding precedent.

The "method of execution" claim contained in Johnson's brief is foreclosed by binding precedent, and is not a basis for relief.

The competency for execution claim is not ripe for consideration. Moreover, the "claim" contained in Johnson's brief is devoid of any allegation of fact which could supply a colorable basis for this claim.

ARGUMENT

I. SUMMARY DENIAL OF THE MOTION WAS PROPER

On pages 6-45 of his *Initial Brief*, Johnson argues that he was entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the claims contained in his successive and untimely *Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure* 3.850 motion. Despite the hyperbole of Johnson's brief, there is no basis for reversal because the collateral proceeding trial court properly denied relief without an evidentiary hearing on this untimely, successive motion. Johnson's specific claims are addressed below.

When the pretensions of Johnson's brief are stripped away, what remains is an argument that he should have been given an evidentiary hearing on his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, newly discovered evidence, and alleged violations of Brady v. Maryland. Initial Brief, at 8. However, the collateral proceeding trial court dealt with each of those claims, and set out in its order why an evidentiary hearing was not required as to those claims.

The first of Johnson's claims is a "newly discovered

evidence" claim which relates to his waiver of his Miranda rights. The trial court denied relief on this claim, stating:

Defendant's claim must be denied for two reasons demonstrating that this evidence is not newly discovered. First, it is clear that Defendant himself was present when he refused to sign the Miranda card. Evidence is only newly discovered if it was "unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial." Melendez v. State, 718 So.2d 746, 747 (Fla. 1998) (quoting Blanco v. State, 702 So.2d 1250, 1251 (Fla. 1997). Thus, it is impossible to validly characterize this evidence as "newly discovered" when Defendant was personally aware of his initial refusal and all circumstances attendant to his interrogation.

Second, the State again shows that this evidence was supplied to the defense during the normal course of discovery and that, even if was not provided, Defendant could have obtained it through a simple public records request using due diligence. In support, the State again submits the Hinshelwood letter which specifically refers to "Miranda card" as one of the items turned over to the defense during discovery and also attaches a copy of a Miranda card apparently signed by officer Peterson and indicating that Defendant refused to sign. (See attached Letter and Card).

(R 286-287. Those findings by the collateral proceeding trial court establish that Johnson's claim based upon the "Miranda Card" simply has no basis in fact. Not only was the evidence at issue demonstrated to have been turned over to Johnson's trial counsel, but it was also demonstrated that the "evidence" was not "newly discovered" within the meaning of Jones and the cases based upon it. There is no issue that is appropriate for evidentiary development because Johnson is not entitled to

relief as a matter of law. Because that is so, summary denial was proper, and the trial court's decision should not be disturbed.

Moreover, as the collateral proceeding trial court discussed at length, the record from Johnson's trial establishes that there was no violation of Miranda.² (R287-289). When all of the hyperbole is stripped away, Johnson's brief contains nothing more than his complaints about the trial court which, despite Johnson's best efforts to present them in an incorrect light, correctly disposed of issues that are procedurally barred and, alternatively, without merit.

Johnson's claim that the State withheld exculpatory evidence is addressed at pages 5-6 of the trial court's order denying relief. (R285-6). The trial court found as follows:

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